2010

# Mike Meguerditchian v. Max Smith : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

On November 15, 2010, the Utah Court of Appeals received this case via pour-over from the Utah Supreme Court. Jurisdiction is proper in this Case under Utah Code §78A-4-103(2)(j).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

**ISSUE I:** The trial court incorrectly interpreted the holding in *Pyper v. Bond*, 224 P.3d 713 (Utah App., 2009) in concluding that the only standard for setting aside the Sheriff's sale is demonstrating both inadequacy of price and irregularities attending the sale.

**PRESERVATION OF ISSUE:** This issue was preserved below in Mr. Smith's (hereafter "Smith") closing argument, in Smith's Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside Sale, and in the trial Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 1089, 157:1-9; R. 859-860; R. 1048, ¶1).

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** This issue presents a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. *Pyper v. Bond*, 224 P.3d 713 (Utah App., 2009) at ¶ 9.

**ISSUE II:** The trial court committed error in concluding that there were no irregularities involving the sale of the real property at the Sheriff's Sale.

**PRESERVATION OF ISSUE:** This issue was preserved below in Smith's closing argument, in Smith's Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside Sale, and in the trial Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 1089, 157:23 to 158:11; R. 861-863; R. 1047, ¶ 8;)

STANDARD OF REVIEW: This issue presents a mixed question of law and fact. *Utah Chapter of Sierra Club v. Air Quality Bd.*, 226 P.3d 719 (Utah,2009) at ¶44.

### CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are no governing constitutional or statutory provisions.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to January 2000, Mr. Smith and Mr. Meguerditchian (hereafter “Meguerditchian”) orally agreed to jointly develop and sell Phase IV of the Oaker Hills Subdivision consisting of 155 acres (“Real Property”). Misunderstandings arose as to Smith’s and Meguerditchian’s interests in the Real Property and on January 10, 2000, they executed a written Agreement to set forth in writing the terms of their agreement.

On April 25, 2005, Meguerditchian filed a complaint against Smith individually and as Trustee of the Smith Family Living Trust alleging claims for Quiet Title and Partition of the Real Property and for Breach of Contract. Meguerditchian claimed that Smith and the Smith Family Trust had breach the Agreement by failing to transfer title to Lot 349 in Phase III of the Oaker Hills Subdivision to him.

Meguerditchian filed a motion for summary judgment on March 12, 2007. The trial court, on July 9, 2008, granted judgment to Meguerditchian on his breach of contract claim but denied summary judgment on Meguerditchian’s claim for quiet Title and Partition of the Real Property.

On December 8, 2008, the trial court entered an order making the summary judgment a final judgment in the amount of \$54,690.92. In March 2009, Meguerditchian



filed an Application for Writ of Execution which lists non-exempt personal property and a Praecipe directing the sheriff to levy upon, seize, attach, hold and sell Mr. Smith's non-exempt personal property. And, in April 2009, Mr. Meguerditchian filed a Writ of Execution directing the Sheriff of Sanpete County to levy on and sell enough of the non-exempt personal property to satisfy the judgment, and if sufficient non-exempt personal property could not be found, to levy on and sell any non-exempt interest in real property.

On May 19, 2009, the Notice of Sheriff's Sale was issued setting the sale date of Tuesday, July 7, 2009. (R. 635). The Notice of Sale identified the property to be sold as: 1) 9.42 acres, more or less, would be sold; 2) Phase IV of Oaker Hills, containing approximately 145 acres, would be sold; 3) water right number 51-224 would be sold; 4) all other rights of Smith and the Smith Family Trust in water coming from, and the well producing said water, would be sold; and 5) that all other rights of Smith in water rights and/or interests in water wells located in Sanpete County, Utah would be sold. The Notice of Sheriff's sale did not include Smith's personal property. Also on May 19, 2009, Smith was incarcerated and still is in prison.

On July 10, 2009, Meguerditchian was the sole bidder at the Sheriff's sale and purchased the following real property and water rights:

- A. 9.42 acres located in Oaker Hills Subdivision, for \$3,000.
- B. Phase IV of the Oaker Hills Subdivision, consisting of 155 acres, for \$30,000.
- C. Water Right No. 51-224 for \$30,000.

D. Other water rights of Mr. Smith located in Sanpete County, Utah, for \$3,000.

On December 8, 2009, Smith served a Motion to Set Aside the Sheriff's Sale. An evidentiary hearing was held on July 9, 2010, and on September 15, 2010, the trial court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Denying in Part and Granting in Part Smith's Motion to Set Aside the Sheriff's Sale. The trial court granted Smith's motion to set aside the Sheriff's sale of the water rights, but denied Smith's motion to set aside the Sheriff's sale of the real property.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. On July 9, 2008, the trial court entered an Order granting Merguerditchian's motion for summary judgment on his claim for breach of contract. (R. 548, ¶ a.).

2. On December 8, 2008, a final Judgment was filed granting Meguerditchian summary judgment against Smith and the Smith Family Living Trust, jointly and severally, on his second cause of action for breach of contract in the amount of \$54,690.92. (R. 609-610, ¶ 1).

3. On March 26, 2009, Meguerditchian filed an Application for Writ of Execution on the following non-exempt personal property: 1) Fifth Wheel Trailer; 2) Storage Containers; 3) Grading Equipment: Loader and Tractor with brush cutter; 4) Vehicles Registered in Max Smith's name; 5) Accounts; 6) Claims; 7) Causes of action; 8) General Intangibles; 9) Materials; and 10) Equipment. (R. 618, 3. A.).

4. The Application for Writ of Execution states that the non-exempt personal

property is located at the Oaker Hills Subdivision. (R. 618, 3. A.).

5. The Application for Writ of Execution also states that real property is to be sold only if there is insufficient non-exempt personal property sold to satisfy the judgment. (R. 618, 3. A.).

6. On April 1, 2009, Meguerditchian's Writ of Execution was issued commanding the Sheriff to "sell enough of the non-exempt personal property" of Smith and the Smith Family Living Trust to satisfy the judgment and to sell the real property only if there was insufficient non-exempt personal property sold to satisfy the judgment. (R. 622).

7. On April 1, 2009, Meguerditchian filed a Praecipe directing the Sheriff to levy upon and seize "[a]ll of the right, title and interest in non-exempt personal property including, but not limited to: Fifth Wheel Trailer; Storage Containers; Grading Equipment: Loader and Tractor with brush cutter; Vehicles Registered in Max Smith's name; Accounts; Claims; Causes of action; General Intangibles; Materials; Equipment." (R. 624-625, ¶ 1).

8. The Praecipe also provided that the real property would not be sold unless there was insufficient non-exempt personal property sold to satisfy the judgment. (R. 625, ¶1).

9. On May 19, 2009, Smith was incarcerated and remains in prison.

10. On May 19, 2009, a Notice of Sale was issued by the Sanpete County Sheriff's Department setting the sale date of Tuesday, July 7, 2009. (R. 635).

11. The Notice of Sale stated that at the Sheriff's Sale 9.42 acres would be sold, that Phase IV of Oaker Hills would be sold, and all Smith's and the Smith Family Living Trust's rights in water right number 51-224, all rights of Smith and the Smith Family Living Trust in water coming from, and the well producing said water, located near the Oaker Hills Subdivision, and that all other rights of Smith and the Smith Family Living Trust in water rights and/or interests in water wells located in Sanpete County, Utah would be sold at the Sheriff's sale. (R. at 635-636).

12. The Notice of Sale did not include Smith's and the Smith Family Living Trust's non-exempt personal property. (R. at 635-636).

13. On June 15, 2009, the Notice of Sale was posted at five public locations by the Deputy of the Sanpete County Sheriff's Department. (R. at 634).

14. According to the publicly posted Notice of Sale, the date of the Sheriff's Sale was to be July 7, 2009 at 11:00 AM. (R. at 635.)

15. The Sheriff's Sale did not occur on July 7, 2009, but three days later on July 10, 2009. (R. 810).

16. On July 10, 2009, Meguerditchian was the sole bidder at the Sheriff's sale and purchased the following real property and water rights:

- A. 9.42 acres located in Oaker Hills Subdivision, for \$3,000.
- B. Phase IV of the Oaker Hills Subdivision, consisting of 155 acres, for \$30,000.
- C. Water Right No. 51-224 for \$30,000.

D. Other water rights of Smith located in Sanpete County, Utah, for \$3,000. (R. 869-871)

17. On December 8, 2009, Smith served his Motion to Set Aside Sale. (R. 759-760)

18. On September 15, 2010, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Denying in Part and Granting in Part Smith's Motion to Set Aside the Sheriff's Sale was entered. (R. 1045-1050).

19. The trial court found that the real property had a value of \$505,000. (R. 1046 at ¶1).

20. The trial court found that the water rights had a fair market value in excess of \$150,000. (R. at 1047, ¶¶4 & 5).

21. The trial court granted Smith's motion, and set aside the sale of the water rights. (R. 1050, ¶3).

22. The trial court denied Smith's motion to set aside the sale of the real property. (R. 1050, ¶1).

23. Meguerditchian formed an LLC to develop the real property as a subdivision (R. 1089, 91:3-5).

24. Mr. King, Meguerditchian's attorney, is Meguerditchian's partner in the LLC formed to develop the real property as a subdivision. (R. 1089, 91:6-7).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

First, the trial erred in concluding that Mr. Smith must prove both an inadequacy

of sales price and irregularities in the Sheriff's sale to justify the setting aside of the Sheriff's sale. In doing so, the trial court wrongfully concluded that the two-part test approved by the Utah Court of Appeals in *Pyper v. Bond*, 224 P.3d 713 (Ut. Ct. App., 2009) was the only way that Mr. Smith could have the Sheriff's sale set aside.

The trial court erred because a Sheriff's sale can be set aside when the sales price is so gross as to shock the conscience. In such a case, the sales price will amount to proof of fraud and there is no need to prove irregularities in the Sheriff's sale. Since the trial court found that the sales price was grossly inadequate and shocks the conscience of the Court, the Sheriff's sale should have been set aside even though the trial court concluded that there were no irregularities attending the sale.

Second, the trial court also erred in finding and concluding that there were no irregularities attending the sale because the officer conducting the Sheriff's Sale, being unable to find sufficient personal property, acted appropriately in selling the real property of Smith's listed in the Certificate of Sale.

The irregularities in the sale are: 1) Meguerditichian's failure to sell Smith's personal property known to him and of sufficient value to cover the judgment; 2) the Notice of Sale which publicly advertised the Sheriff's Sale for July 7, 2009, but conducting the sale on July 10, 2009; and 3) Meguerditichian's attorney had formed an LLC with Meguerditichian for the development of the real property as a subdivision and exercised direction and control of whether and how much of the real property, water rights and non-exempt personal property would be sold at the sale.

Meguerditichian and his attorney directed the Sheriff to sell all of the real property and all of the water rights but not to sell the non-exempt personal property by excluding any reference to the non-exempt personal property in the Notice of Sale. They determined the amount that they would pay for the real property and the water rights based on the amount of the judgment to insure that they obtained all of the real property and all of the water rights.

Such conduct constitutes unfairness on the part of Meguerditichian and irregularities attending the sale.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT INCORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE ONLY STANDARD FOR SETTING ASIDE THE SHERIFF'S SALE IS DEMONSTRATING BOTH INADEQUACY OF PRICE AND IRREGULARITIES ATTENDING THE SALE.**

The trial court ruled that “[t]he proper standard for setting aside the Sheriff’s Sale in this matter is that standard outlined in *Pyper v. Bond*, 224 P.3d 713 (Ut. Ct. App., 2009). The trial court further concluded that the standard set out in the *Pyper* case required Mr. Smith to prove: 1) a gross inadequacy of the purchase price as compared to value of the property sold; and 2) irregularities attending the sale. (R. at 1048, ¶1).

The two part test set forth in the *Pyper* case is not the exclusive test to set aside a sheriff’s sale.

It is insisted by appellants that mere inadequacy of price, however gross, will not authorize the courts to set aside a judicial sale. The general rule undoubtedly is that mere inadequacy of price, alone, does not authorize the disturbance of such a sale; but we are not prepared to sanction the unqualified statement of the rule as

put by appellants' counsel. If the inadequacy is so gross as at once to shock the conscience of all fair and impartial minds, if the sacrifice is such that every honest man would hesitate to take advantage of it, it may well be doubted whether every such case would be beyond the power of a court of equity to relieve against. (*Pender v. Dowse*, 265 P.2d 644, 648 (Utah 1954)).

The *Pyper* Court not only upheld the two-part test but also affirmed the trial court's determination that the disparity between the sales price and the market value of the real property justified the setting aside of the sale even if there had been no irregularities in the sale.

Building on this analysis, the *Pyper* court affirmed the trial court's determination that the sale of *Pyper's* \$75,000 of equity in his property for \$329 "shock[ed] the conscience of an impartial mind" and was "[such a] sacrifice of [*Pyper's*] property ... that an honest man would hesitate to take advantage of it." (Citations Omitted). (*Bangerter v. Petty*, 228 P.3d 1250 (Ut. Ct. App., 2010) at ¶17).

Where the sales price is so gross as to shock the conscience, then the sales price will amount to proof of fraud.

... wherever the court perceives that a sale of property has been made at a grossly inadequate price, such as would shock a correct mind, this inadequacy furnishes a strong, and, in general, a conclusive, presumption, though there be no direct proof of fraud, that an undue advantage has been taken of the ignorance, weakness, or the distress or necessity of the vendor; and this imposes on the purchaser a necessity to remove this violent presumption by the clearest evidence of fairness of his conduct. (*Young v. Schroeder*, 37 P. 252, 254 (Utah, 1894) (Quoting *Butler v. Haskell*, 4 Desaus. Eq. 65)).

Therefore, a Sheriff's Sale may be set aside where the inadequacy of the purchase price is so grossly inadequate that it shocks the conscience even if there are no irregularities in the sale. (See *Pender*, at p. 648) ("From the cases here cited we may draw the general conclusion that, if the inadequacy of price is so gross as to shock the



conscience, .....then the sale will be regarded as fraudulent and void, or the party injured will be permitted to redeem the property sold.”) (Quoting *Graffam v. Burgess*, 117 U.S. 180, 6 S.Ct. 686, 29 L.Ed. 839).

In this case, the trial court found that the difference between the sales price of \$33,000 and the fair market value of \$505,000 for the real property “shocks the conscience of the court.” (R. 1046 ¶3). The trial court further concluded that the “purchase price for the two parcels of real property sold at the Sheriff’s Sale, was grossly inadequate, shocking the conscience of the Court meeting the first element required by the *Pyper v. Bond* standard.” (R. 1049, ¶2).

Even though the trial court concluded that the disparity between the sales price and fair market value of the real property “shocks the conscience of the court”, it did not set aside the sale, but ruled that *Pyper* required that there must be irregularities in the sale as well. Thus, the trial court erred in ruling that the two-part test set forth in *Pender* was the exclusive manner to set aside a Sheriff’s Sale.

Having found that the sales price was so inadequate as to shock the conscience, the trial court should have set aside the Sheriff’s Sale of the real property without requiring irregularities in the sale.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN CONCLUDING THAT THERE WERE NO IRREGULARITIES INVOLVING THE SALE OF THE REAL PROPERTY AT THE SHERIFF’S SALE.**

In setting aside a sheriff’s sale, the unfairness on the part of the purchasing party need not be in the sale itself. (See *Pyper v. Bond*, 224 P.3d 713(Ut. Ct. App., 2009) at

¶12) (Therefore, the [c]ourt should consider any unfairness in the conduct of a purchasing party.); (See also *Pyper v. Bond*, at ¶ 15) (“In *Pender*, a judgment creditor purchased real property worth about \$8,000 for \$47.46 to satisfy a judgment of \$22.80. After the redemption period had expired, the judgment debtor petitioned the district court to set aside the sale. The district court did so, relying on the great inadequacy of price and two additional factors: (1) the creditor's failure to levy upon and sell the debtor's personal property, which was known to the creditor and of sufficient value to easily cover the judgment, and (2) the creditor and his attorney's "studious silence" about their intent to collect the judgment, despite repeated contact with the debtor and his attorney both before and after the execution sale. Neither of these circumstances can be characterized as irregularities in the sale itself, which was apparently properly noticed and conducted.” (Citations Omitted).

To show that the trial court erred in finding that there were no irregularities in the sale of the real property, Mr. Smith must marshal all the evidence that supports the findings and demonstrate that, despite this evidence, the findings are so lacking in support as to be “against the clear weight of the evidence” and, thus, clearly erroneous. (*Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah*, 794 P.2d 847, 849 (Ut. Ct. App., 1990)).

The following findings of fact by the trial court are so lacking in support as to be “against the clear weight of the evidence” and, thus, clearly erroneous:

1. “The officer conducting the Sheriff’s Sale, being unable to find sufficient personal property, acted appropriately in selling real property of the

Defendants listed in said Certificate of Sale.” (R. 1047, ¶7).

2. “The Court finds that there was nothing misleading regarding the sale of real property included in the Sheriff’s Certificate of Sale, and no unfairness in the conduct of the purchasing party with respect to the two parcels of real property included in said Certificate of Sale. The Court found that there was nothing irregular in the sale of real property at said Sheriff’s Sale.” (R. 1047, ¶8).

The evidence supporting the trial court’s finding is: 1) the officer did not sell the fifth-wheel trailer because it was not properly described as there was no serial numbers or model numbers in the Praeipie (R. 1089, 12:5-22); 2) the officer does not recall if he contacted Meguerditchian or his attorney, Mr. King, to tell them that the fifth-wheel trailer was not described properly (R. 1089, 12:24 to 13:1); 3) the officer did not execute on the non-exempt personal property because he did not know exactly where the non-exempt property was or what the non-exempt property was (R. 1089, 13:7-9); 4) the officer assumes that he informed Mr. King that he did not know exactly where the non-exempt personal property was or what the non-exempt personal property was (R. 1089, 13:10-12); 5) the officer does not recall Mr. King or Meguerditchian telling him not to sell the non-exempt personal property at the Sheriff’s sale (R. 1089, 13:13-15); 6) the officer thinks that the order he sells the non-exempt personal property and the real property is entirely up to him (R. 1089, 13:15-18); 7) the officer was not concerned that the real property was being sold first because the non-exempt personal property was not

properly described (R. 1089, 14:4-6); 8) the officer does not know if by statute he is required to sell the non-exempt personal property first (R. 1089, 14:7-12); 8) the officer understands that if the non-exempt property cannot be found that he is to execute on the real property (R. 1089, 14:11-12); 9) the officer does not recall if Mr. King or Meguerditchian expressed that the non-exempt personal property was not being sold at the Sheriff's sale (R. 1089, 14:13-16); 10) the officer doesn't recall if he conducted a bid or if the amounts for the two parcels of real estate was given to him by Mr. King or Meguerditchian (R. 1089, 15:25 to 16:9); 11) Meguerditchian divided the judgment and offered an amount on the two parcels of real property and the water rights to equal his judgment (R. 1089, 89:1-25); and 12) the sale was conducted on July 10, 2009. (R. 810).

A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is against the clear weight of evidence, or if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. (*Cal Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George*, 898 P.2d 1372, 1378 (Utah, 1995)).

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