2010

Mike Meguerditchian v. Max Smith : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In attempting to satisfy a judgment in his favor that had accrued to approximately \$66,000.00, the Plaintiff requested that the sheriff proceed by writ of execution to cause four items to be sold, the Defendant's interest in two parcels of real property, the Defendant's interest in one particular water right, and the Defendant's interest generally in other water rights in Sanpete County, Utah. Prior to the time set for said sale, multiple hearings were conducted by the District Court, pursuant to various motions filed by the Defendant objecting to the sale of personal property, moving to quash the writ of execution generally, and moving for a temporary stay of execution. The sheriff's sale was validly postponed at the Defendant's instance and with full notice to the Defendant. The Defendant was informed prior to the sale that the Plaintiff and sheriff could not adequately locate and identify personal property in order for it to be sold. The Defendant did not oppose the failure to sell personal property, indeed, the Defendant demanded that personal property not be sold.

The District Court correctly applied the two part test re-affirmed by this Court in *Pyper v. Bond*, requiring both inadequate price and irregularities in the sale, in ruling on the Defendant's motion to set aside the sale. The District Court found no irregularities in the sale of the real property and refused to set aside the sheriff's sale as to said real property. The Defendant has failed and refused to avail himself of the remedy of redemption, at the same time complaining that the purchase price paid was unreasonably

low. Further, the Defendant claims primarily that the failure of the sheriff to first sell personal property constitutes irregularity in the sale, even though the Defendant had notice and opportunity to direct the first sale of personal property and failed to do so. Indeed the Defendant demanded that personal property not be sold.

The District Court found that the failure to specifically describe the individual water rights of the Defendant constituted an irregularity, and set aside the sale of water rights on that basis. However, in doing so, the District Court also set aside the sale of Water Right # 51-224 that was specifically and individually identified and sold.

This Court should affirm the two-part test articulated in *Pyper v. Bond* as the correct standard for the District Court to apply in considering a motion to set aside the sheriff's sale. In doing so, the District Court's ruling refusing to set aside the sheriff's sale as to the real property sold should be affirmed, and the District Court's ruling setting aside the sale of Water Right # 51-224 should be set aside to that limited extent.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Applied the Two Prong Test of Both Inadequacy of Price and Irregularities Attending the Sale in Determining the Appropriateness of Setting Aside the Sheriff's Sale

Defendant argues that the two-part test affirmed in *Pyper v. Bond* is not the applicable standard for allowing the District Court to set aside a sheriff's sale. Defendant contends that a sheriff's sale may be set aside if the sale price is inadequate, "even if there

are no irregularities in the sale.” Brief of Appellant, p. 10. In support of that proposition, Defendant refers to dicta in the 1894 Utah Territorial case of *Young v. Schroeder*, 10 Utah 155, 37 P. 252, (1894) aff’d, 161 U.S. 334, 16 S. Ct. 512, 40 L. Ed. 721 (1896), stating vaguely that “it may well be doubted whether every such case would be beyond the power of a court of equity to receive against.” *Id.* at 254. “Every such case” referred to by the Court was “[i]f the inadequacy is so gross as at once to shock the conscience of all fair and impartial minds, if the sacrifice is such that every honest man would hesitate to take advantage of it,” *Id.* (emphasis added). No standard to invoke that theoretical construct has been proffered, and no case has applied it. Every case setting aside a sheriff’s sale has relied upon irregularities related to the sheriff’s sale or the redemption process in order to grant that equitable relief.

Young v. Schroeder was “not a case which rests on mere inadequacy of price alone, but one where the sales complained of were attended by such substantial irregularities as must have prevented a sale at a fair sum.” *Id.* at 254. That court noted that even in the case of great inadequacy of price at the sheriff’s sale, there still must be at least “slight circumstances of unfairness in the conduct of the party benefitted by the sale to raise the presumption of fraud.” *Id.*, citing *Graffam v. Burgess*, 117 U.S. 180, 192, 6 S. Ct. 686, 692, 29 L. Ed. 839 (1886).

The *Young v. Schroeder* court went further to confirm the necessity of a two-part test, i.e., inadequate price and irregularities attendant to the sale, holding that:

“All the cases unite in the doctrine that on gross inadequacy of price, coupled with irregularities attending the sale, ... it is the duty of the courts to set the sale aside, unless the complaining party is estopped by his own laches.”

Id. (emphasis added). As set forth more fully below, in addition to the lack of any irregularities in the sheriff's sale, the Defendant here should be equitably estopped from objecting to the conduct of the sheriff's sale based on his own actions.

The dicta in the 1894 case of *Young v. Schroeder* was based on other dicta, not the holding, of the 1856 case of *Byers v. Surget*, 60 U.S. 303, 15 L. Ed. 670 (1856). Even the *Byers* opinion required both elements of inadequacy of price and irregularities in the sale to set aside the sheriff's sale, it was not decided on mere inadequacy of price alone. The Appellant in *Byers*, in proceedings to satisfy a claim of \$39.00, caused the Sheriff to sell 14,000 acres of land worth \$40,000.00 to \$70,000.00. Appellant's bid at that sheriff's sale was nine dollars and thirteen and one-half cents. The Appellant himself demanded to post the notices, not allowing the Sheriff to do so, and then refused the debtor's proffer of the redemption price, among other irregularities. *Id.* at 306. The Court there noted these irregularities in holding that the sale could be set aside, as follows:

“Thus, when we advert to the irregular and extraordinary character of the judgment procured through the agency of the appellant-to his eagerness, that could not await the action of the officer of the court-his assumption of the functions of the clerk, in taxing the costs, and in writing out the execution-his preparation and delivery to the sheriff of a description and list of the lands of the appellee, amounting to more than fourteen thousand acres-his requisition of a seizure of the whole of those lands in satisfaction of the sum of thirty-nine dollars-his inflexible demand upon the sheriff, under threats of prosecution, to expose to sale the entire levy-his purchase

of all these lands for the sum of nine dollars and thirteen and a half cents-and his refusal after the sale and purchase to accept, in redemption of these lands so sacrificed, a sum of money tendered to him much more than equal to the costs, with all the expenses incident to the judgment: when all these acts on the part of the appellant are adverted to, they impel irresistibly to the conclusion, that the gross inadequacy of consideration in the sale and purchase of these lands was the premeditated result which the proceedings by the appellant were put in practice to insure. ...

Upon the whole case, we are constrained to view the entire transaction impeached by the appellee as one that cannot be sustained without the subversion of the principles and rules either of legal or moral justice.

Byers v. Surget, 60 U.S. 303 at 311-12 (emphasis added). It should be noted that the Defendant in the instant case before this Court did not proffer any redemption price, he sought only to set aside the sheriff's sale in its entirety.

The holding of the case in *Pender v. Dowse*, 265 P.2d 644 (Utah 1954), relied upon by the Defendant, was specifically based on the Court's finding that both elements of inadequate price and irregularities attending the sale were present. The Court held that:

"In the instant case there can be no doubt of the gross inadequacy of the consideration and from the facts that Dowse knew that the judgment for costs could easily have been satisfied from a levy of personal property known by him to be owned by Pender, and which he was very careful not to direct the sheriff to levy upon and sell, plus his and his attorney's studious silence after the quitclaim deed had been received about their intention to collect the judgment for costs even though they saw Pender and his attorney on several occasions before and after the execution sale, justified the court in concluding the sale was attended by unfairness and was tainted with fraud. It therefore did not err in setting aside the sale and cancelling the sheriff's deed."

Id. at 648 (emphasis added).

The case of *Bangerter v. Petty*, 2010 UT App 49, 228 P.3d 1250, relied upon by the Defendant, made no ruling that a sheriff's sale could be set aside in the absence of irregularities. There, the Court overturned the grant of summary judgment in favor of the judgment creditor, and remanded the case to the District Court for an evidentiary hearing to determine if any irregularities were involved in the sheriff's sale. That Court ruled that:

“¶ 19 The trial court will be required to hold an evidentiary hearing because many of the relevant facts are not in the record. Bangerter's brief contends that she did not have notice of the sale and thus did not have the opportunity to challenge it or protect her rights at the execution sale. However, Bangerter filed no affidavit stating she never received notice of the sale at her home where she was residing, and because the trial court did not hold an evidentiary hearing, there are no facts in the record supporting her contentions.

¶ 20 However, the record makes clear that, at least according to his sworn documents, the sheriff served all the appropriate notices. The trial court on remand will be required to determine whether Bangerter had notice of the sheriff's sale.”

Id. at ¶¶ 19 and 20.

This Court in *Bangerter v. Petty* concluded specifically that there must be both inadequate price and irregularities in the sale, and even if those two elements existed, the Defendant's own actions may bar the equitable relief of setting aside the sale. That conclusion was as follows:

“¶ 23 In sum, we remand to the trial court for a factual hearing on whether the sale should be voided, or if the sale ‘moves the conscience of the court,’ such that equitable redemption should apply, which, following *Young and Pyper*, will involve a balancing of whether the sale price was grossly

inadequate, whether there were gross irregularities in the proceedings, and whether Bangerter is barred by her own laches”

Id. at ¶ 23.

There is no binding precedent, cited by the Defendant or otherwise, that has involved facts where mere inadequacy of price was found sufficient to set aside a sheriff's sale. No authority has been cited for over-ruling the two part test applied in *Pyper v. Bond*. It is well settled that in Utah, in light of the substantial period of redemption allowed to the judgment debtor, a sheriff's sale must be sustained unless it is manifestly unfair. “‘There is a general policy to sustain a sheriff's sale’ unless ‘[it is] manifestly unfair ... especially ... in Utah which has a substantial period of redemption.’” *Beesley v. Hatch*, 863 P.2d 1319, 1322 (Utah 1993).” *Bangerter v. Petty*, 2010 UT App 49 at ¶ 15. As borne out by all of the applicable caselaw, that unfairness must be demonstrated by more than merely inadequate price.

The Defendant's remedy for an inadequate sale price is redemption, under Rule 69C, Ut. R. Civ. P. A low purchase price at a sheriff's sale benefits a judgment debtor, by making the property easy to redeem. Conversely, requiring a high purchase price makes the equity of redemption more costly to the debtor, and may leave the judgment creditor without a remedy. It would be inequitable to require a judgment creditor of modest means and judgment amount, faced with a wealthy judgment debtor holding only large, valuable assets, to be required to bid in full fair market value for any asset presented at the sheriff's sale. That would be impossible for many judgment creditors,

leaving them without a remedy against wealthy judgment debtors. The rule of law must allow the collection and enforcement of judgments rendered in our courts, otherwise, judicial decisions become meaningless.

The standard articulated in *Pyper v. Bond* requiring a two-part test should be upheld, as equitably addressing the interests of both parties and being consistent with the intent of the redemption right granted to judgment debtors by Rule 69C, Ut. R. Civ. P. This Court, in the *Pyper v. Bond* decision, noted the judgment creditor's concern that relying on inadequate price alone would "make it almost impossible to effectively lien property to collect a judgment because 'every creditor would have to analyze their purchase price against the value of the property being sold to determine whether there is a gross inadequacy of price.'" *Pyper v. Bond*, 2009 UT App 331 at ¶ 19. The Court addressed that concern by noting that the District Court properly relied upon "both inadequacy of price and the unfair actions" of the judgment creditor. *Id.* The *Young v. Schroeder* standard requiring both gross inadequacy of price and irregularities attending the sale, recognized and applied in *Pyper v. Bond*, should be upheld in the instant case. See *Pyper v. Bond*, 2009 UT App 331 at ¶ 11.

II. The District Court Properly Concluded That There Were No Irregularities Involving the Sale of Real Property at the Sheriff's Sale

The District Court found that there were no irregularities involving the sale of real property by the sheriff, and upheld the validity of the sheriff's sale on that basis. That

factual determination by the District Court must be upheld here unless that finding is “against the clear weight of the evidence,” or if the Court is otherwise able to “reach a firm conviction that a mistake has been made.” *Dev. Corp. v. Mattson*, 943 P.2d 247, 255 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).¹ Defendant alleges three instances of irregularities in the sheriff’s sale, as follows:

“The irregularities in the sale are: 1) Meguerditichian’s failure to sell Smith’s personal property known to him and of sufficient value to cover the judgment; 2) the Notice of Sale which publicly advertised the Sheriff’s Sale for July 7, 2009, but conducting the sale on July 10, 2009; and 3) Meguerditichian’s attorney had formed an LLC with Meguerditichian for the development of the real property as a subdivision and exercised direction and control of whether and how much of the real property, water rights and non-exempt personal property would be sold at the sale.

Brief of Appellant, p. 8. Those alleged irregularities shall be addressed below in reverse order.

A. Alleged Irregularity No. 3: Plaintiff’s Subsequent Formation of a Limited Liability Company with Counsel to Hold the Real Property.

Defendant has the burden of first marshalling the evidence supporting the challenged finding of the District Court that there were no irregularities in the sheriff’s sale of the real property, pursuant to Rule 24(a)(9), Utah R. App. P. , as correctly noted by

¹ As a threshold matter, this Court should note that the Defendant’s motion to set aside the sheriff’s sale was made exclusively on the basis that “more real property and water rights were sold and the sheriff’s sale than was necessary to satisfy amounts due” to the Plaintiff. R. at 763. See Statement of the Case, *supra*, at ¶ 17. Defendant did not allege or preserve the issue that there were any irregularities in the sheriff’s sale in his initial motion to the District Court to set aside said sale.

the Defendant, citing *Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah*, 794 P.2d 847 (Ut. Ct. App. 1990). Brief of Appellant at p. 12. The only evidence supporting this allegation of irregularity is that the Plaintiff, subsequent to the sheriff's sale, formed a limited liability company with the assistance and participation of counsel to hold the property purchased at the sheriff's sale.

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